Public Document Pack

Resources Department
Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD

AGENDA FOR THE HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Members of the Housing Scrutiny Committee are summoned to Council Chamber, Town
Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD - Islington Town Hall on, 6 December 2021 at 7.30 pm.

Enquiries to
Tel
E-mail
Despatched

:
:
:
:

Ola Adeoye
020 7527 044
democracy@islington.gov.uk
26 November 2021

Membership
Councillor Michael O'Sullivan (Chair)
Councillor Marian Spall (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Valerie Bossman-Quarshie
Councillor Theresa Debono
Councillor Osh Gantly
Councillor Phil Graham
Councillor Jason Jackson
Councillor Gulcin Ozdemir
Dean Donaghey (Resident Observer) (Co-Optee)
Rose Marie McDonald (Resident Observer) (CoOptee)
Quorum is 4 Councillors

Substitute Members
Councillor Gary Heather
Councillor Sara Hyde
Councillor Anjna Khurana
Councillor Roulin Khondoker
Councillor Matt Nathan
Councillor John Woolf
Councillor MIck Gilgunn

A.

Formal Matters

1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Declaration of Substitute Members

3.

Declarations of Interests

Page

If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business:
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the
existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it
becomes apparent;
 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.
In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in
discussion of the item.
If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in
the discussion and vote on the item.
*(a) Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or
vocation carried on for profit or gain.
(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your
expenses in carrying out duties as a member, or of your election; including
from a trade union.
(c) Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between
you or your partner (or a body in which one of you has a beneficial interest)
and the council.
(d) Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area.
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or
longer.
(f) Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in
which you or your partner have a beneficial interest.
(g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a
place of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of
the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.
This applies to all members present at the meeting.

4.

Minutes of Previous Meeting

5.

Chair's Report

6.

Order of Business

1-6

7.

Public Questions
For members of the public to ask questions relating to any subject on the
meeting agenda under Procedure Rule 70.5. Alternatively, the Chair may
opt to accept questions from the public during the discussion on each
agenda item.

B.

Items for Decision/Discussion

Page

1.

Major Scrutiny Review - Partners Improvement - Witness Evidence

2.

Housing Fire Safety Update

7 - 16

3.

Quarterly Review of Housing Performance Q2 (2021/2022)

17 - 22

4.

Work Programme 2021/22

23 - 24

C.

Urgent non-exempt items (if any)
Any non- exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered
urgent by reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will
be agreed by the Chair and recorded in the minutes.

D.

Exclusion of press and public
To consider whether, in view of the nature of the remaining items on the
agenda, any of them are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt or
confidential information within the terms of the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in the Constitution and, if so, whether to exclude the
press and public during discussion thereof.

E.

Confidential/exempt items

F.

Urgent exempt items (if any)

Page

Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently
by reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be
agreed by the Chair and recorded in the minutes.
The next meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Committee will be on 3 February 2022
WEBCASTING NOTICE
This meeting will be filmed by the Council for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the Council’s
website. The whole of the meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt

items, and the footage will be on the website for 12 months. A copy of it will also be retained in
accordance with the Council’s data retention policy.
If you participate in the meeting you will be deemed by the Council to have consented to being
filmed. By entering the Council Chamber you are also consenting to being filmed and to the
possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. If
you do not wish to have your image captured you should sit in the public gallery area, overlooking
the Chamber.
In addition, the Council is obliged by law to allow members of the public to take photographs, film,
audio-record, and report on the proceedings at public meetings. The Council will only seek to
prevent this should it be undertaken in a disruptive or otherwise inappropriate manner.
If you have any queries regarding webcasting or the recording of meetings by the public, please
contact Democratic Services on democracy@islington.gov.uk

Agenda Item 4
London Borough of Islington
Housing Scrutiny Committee - 11 November 2021
Minutes of the meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Committee held at Town Hall on 11
November 2021 at 7.30 pm.
Present:

Councillors:

O'Sullivan (Chair), Bossman-Quarshie,
Gantly, Graham and Jackson

Co-opted Members: Rose Marie MacDonald and
Dean Donaghey
Also Present: Councillor :

Ward

Councillor Michael O'Sullivan in the Chair

301

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Item 1)
Apologies were received from Councillors Spall, Debono and Ozdemir
Councillor Bossman-Quarshie although present at the meeting requested that it be
noted in the minutes that due to an illness she is unable to ask questions at the
meeting

302

DECLARATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (Item 2)
None

303

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS (Item 3)
There were no declarations of interest

304

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Item 4)
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 21 September 2021 be
confirmed and the Chair be authorised to sign them

305

CHAIR'S REPORT (Item 5)
The Chair informed the meeting of 2 events being held at the Excel Centre in
London, the Build Exhibition next week and the Homes Conference 23 rd and 24th
November 2021.

306

ORDER OF BUSINESS (Item 6)
The Chair stated that the order of business would be as per the agenda

307

PUBLIC QUESTIONS (Item 7)
The Chair outlined the procedure for Public questions
1

Page 1

Housing Scrutiny Committee - 11 November 2021

308

MAJOR WORKS SCRUTINY REVIEW- 12 MONTH REPORT BACK (Item B1)
Matt West, Director of Housing Property Services was present and outlined the
report.
Meeting was advised of the progress of some of the recommendations and that a
number of pilots will be commencing in 2023.
RESOLVED:
That the report and progress to date be noted.
The Chair thanked Matt West for attending.

309

MINI SCRUTINY REVIEW - COMMUNAL HEATING - FINAL REPORT AND
RECOMMENDATIONS (Item B2)
Matt West, Director of Property Services and Garrett McEntee, Housing Directorate
was present for the report
During consideration of the report the following main points were made








Reference was made to the continual problems with the communal heating
system in the Bunhill area, that this was not acceptable to residents or
Members. Meeting was informed of an incident over the weekend, and the
poor communication between the contractor and the Council. Members were
informed that the contractor had recognised the problems and stated that
staff training was taking place to rectify the situation
With the continuing problems with Bunhill 2, a Member suggested that unless
the problems were resolved quickly, residents should be converted to
individual gas boiler systems.
In response, the Director of Housing Property Services acknowledged that he
would look into this issue, that members request for drawings and design of
the relevant boiler system, will be circulated to the Committee if interested.
On the existence of penalty clauses for the Bunhill 2 contract especially when
the system fails, the meeting was advised that this information could be
provided to the Committee.
The Executive Member Housing suggested a informal sub-group of Members
should be established to monitor the situation, and that all Members of the
Committee interested should be invited when there is any breakdown with
the communal heating systems in Islington.
It was noted that with the net zero carbon targets, individual gas boilers
would not achieve this. The Chair stated that this may be an item for scrutiny
in the forthcoming year, especially in tower blocks

RESOLVED:
That consideration of the report be deferred until the next meeting of the
Committee,
and responses to the issues raised above in relation to penalty clauses and drawing
of boiler plants be reported to Members
2

Page 2

Housing Scrutiny Committee - 11 November 2021

The Chair thanked Matt West for attending
310

COMMUNITY FIBRE OPTICS IN HOUSING ESTATE - OFFICER UPDATE
/PRESENTATION (Item B3)
Ian Swift, Director of Housing Needs and Strategy was present and outlined the
presentation, a copy of which is interleaved
During consideration of the presentation the following main points were made











Fixed fibre to the property or FTTP fibre broadband that is wired directly to
the home instead of a cabinet that services it
Most Council homes are currently connected to these cabinets via copper
cable which unreliable, and only capable of delivering limited connection
speeds
FTTP connections is 3 times faster and can support significantly higher levels
of household demand, making it possible to use a number of devices and
stream data, music or videos at the same time
Faster and more reliable connectivity has become more important now than
ever with increases in home working, home schooling, streaming digital
media, and the significance towards accessing goods and services online
The Council recognises the significant social and financial benefits of a well
connected borough; the huge demand for faster, more affordable and
reliable digital connectivity by residents. Over the past year the Council has
developed an approach to secure investment to upgrade estates to FTTP and
is working closely with GLA, Department for Digital, Culture, Media and
Sports, and a number of local authorities, in particular Hackney because of
the similarity in approach especially as lessons are being learnt from other
Local Authorities
The Council envisages working with a number of internet service providers to
deliver services across the borough in order to facilitate the rollout of FTTP to
our estates as quickly as possible, maximise the choice of provider available
to residents, keep the costs of services as low as possible, maximise the
social benefits of improved connectivity
The Council will engage with the FTTP market providers in mid-November
2021, seeking expressions of interest from potential partners who will be
expected to make commitments, that they will provide high quality and
affordable connections to all Council owned estates and to a mutually agreed
timescale, to work collaboratively with the Council and other providers to
minimise disruption to residents, to install all equipment and cabling in a way
that is safe ( protecting compartmentalisation of homes), and protects the
Council’s and residents interest in homes and buildings. To contribute toward
the Council significant costs in facilitating the safety compliant rollout
Community benefit – through market engagement the Council hopes to
maximise the community benefit of the rollout of FTTP to our estates and

3

Page 3

Housing Scrutiny Committee - 11 November 2021
















wipe out digital connectivity blackspots on Council estates entirely within the
next few years
The Council is seeking a broad range of measures and commitments from
providers in this area, but also recognises that the providers will need to
make significant levels of investment to deliver fibre to estates
Specific expectations around these have been set out in the expressions of
interest document and will be subject to discussion and negotiation with
providers. Publication of these ahead of market engagement this month
would not be prudent as it may compromise the Council’s ability to secure
the best outcomes from the market
In terms of implementation and rollout, the Council has developed a
Wayleave agreement that all providers will be expected to sign up to. This
agreement will cover the broad terms of the agreement and provide the
service providers with rights to access Council property to survey, install,
repair and maintain their equipment. A full technical specification for the
installation of equipment and cables on estates has been developed, that will
govern all works undertaken on housing estates and ensure works are
delivered safely and all necessary repairs are made. Detailed site by site
approval and technical supervision, particularly around fire stopping and
safety, will be undertaken by specialist officers within Homes and
Neighbourhoods team
FTTP rollout in the UK has been slow, and the levels of investment required
are significant. There are also very few FTPP providers operating in the UK
and London markets so competition is limited. There are also diminishing
returns for the investment for subsequent providers so attracting multiple
providers onto the same estates is unlikely. The Electronic communications
code allows the Courts to impose leases or licences on the Council or any
private landowner, this means that providers can serve notices on
landowners who are subsequently forced to allow Code providers to install
equipment on their land and for very little in way of compensation or
consideration. It would be unlikely to successfully gain any community
benefit or other concessions if this should happen
Meeting was advised that both the Chair and Councillor Convery have had a
significant input into discussions on this issue, and that their contribution
should be placed on record especially as social value and inclusivity were
core to the proposals
Reference was made with the example when roads works are dug up to put
in utilities, and the road restored to its original position, that this approach
should be replicated with this scheme and that any removal of fibre optics
going forward should not result in additional cost to the Council. It was
stated that this would be investigated
Council aims to have 70% of residents connected to fibre optic within 2 years
and 90% within 3 years. There would be a project plan available, which
could be shared, and the Council would be seeking a contribution from
providers of £55,000 and an officer would be monitoring implementation
The Council is seeking a reduction of 50% in costs for the poorest 10% of
residents. In addition free broadband would be provided to community
centres and hostels. There would also be a £10m insurance liability
4

Page 4

Housing Scrutiny Committee - 11 November 2021





In response to a question it was stated that in relation to fire safety alarm
checks, especially in tower blocks, this could be looked at and whether this
could be carried out in conjunction with CP12 gas checks
It was noted that that project plans could be shared with ward councillors
and residents
It was stated that providers would provide upgrades to the system as
improvements are made to ensure all fibre optic broadband was up to date
and that all residents would be offered choice of providers
RESOLVED:
That the proposals be welcomed, and that the issues with utility companies
noted above be investigated

The Chair thanked Ian Swift for his presentation
311

WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22 (Item B4)
The Chair stated that the work programme be amended, noting that further
information would be considered in relation to the Scrutiny Review on Communal
Heating given the concerns raised earlier during the meeting
The Chair also indicated that the Committee will take further witness evidence into
the Scrutiny Review on Partners at the next meeting, with the final report deferred
for consideration in the New Year
RESOLVED:
That the amendments referred to above be incorporated into the revised work
programme 2021/22

312

OTHER BUSINESS (Item )
A Member referred to the recent fire at Godfrey House in his ward, stating and
stated that the first he had learnt of this was from a reporter. This was not
acceptable and Ward Members and the TRA should have been informed. In
addition, a fire improvement notice had been issued and the Fire Brigade had been
critical of the fire safety knowledge of Council officers and it was added that this
was not acceptable
The Chair referred to a previous Scrutiny Review on Fire Safety that had taken place
a few years ago, that progress on these recommendations should be reviewed by
the Committee at the next meeting. It was noted that fire safety testing is in place
and there is a programme of works
Members were informed that the Council did take fire safety extremely seriously and
training for staff did take place. There is a Home Safety Training Board that is
independently chaired which focuses on fire safety. In addition, the Council held
regular meetings with the Fire Brigade and other groups in relation to tall buildings.
It was stated that in future an invitation should be sent to Members to attend these
meetings if they wished to do so given the concerns over fire safety following
5

Page 5

Housing Scrutiny Committee - 11 November 2021

Grenfell.
In response to a member question regarding management of trees on housing
estates and in particular safety for residents and children and any planned activities,
the Executive Member for Housing & Development advised that this should be
referred to the Executive Member of the possibility of reporting back to committee
about tree wardens

The meeting ended at 8.55 p.m.

CHAIR

6

Page 6

Agenda Item B2

Homes and Neighbourhoods Directorate
222 Upper Street

Report of Matt West, Service Director, Housing Property Services
Meeting of:

Date

Ward(s):

Housing Scrutiny Committee

06th December 2021

All

Delete as appropriate

Exempt

Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Housing Fire Safety – Progress Update
1

Regulatory Requirements

1.1

This Report outlines the progress improving fire safety within the borough.

1.2

Since the last update to Housing Scrutiny Committee, the Grenfell Tower Inquiry Phase
One report has been published, along with the government response to the fire safety
consultation.

1.3

Amendments to the Building Regulations and Approved Document B (Fire Safety)
impose new standards for the external wall construction of a ‘relevant building’ or those
of 18m or more in height.

1.4

The Fire Safety Act 2021 (FSA) received Royal Assent in April 2021 and is likely to be
effective from October 2022.

1.5

The implementation of the FSA amends the scope of the Regulatory Reform (Fire
Safety) Order 2005 (RRFSO). These amendments, along with new secondary
legislation, will impose new duties on the Council as landlord. These are broadly set
out in 1.6

1.6








External wall construction included in scope of RRFSO and Fire Risk Assessment
(FRA)
Doors between dwellings and common parts explicitly ‘in scope’
Requirement to inspect flat front entrance doors annually in blocks 11m+
Requirement to inspect communal fire doors quarterly
Wayfinding signage to be installed in properties 11m+
Premises Information Boxes (PIBs) required in buildings 18m or 7 storey+
1
Page
7




Flat layout drawings and Evacuation Plans to be included in PIBs
Reporting of defects in fire-fighting lifts >24hrs to FRS

1.7

The proposals for the introduction of Personal Emergency Evacuation Plans (or
PEEP’s) are not included in the new draft regulations at this time. There has been no
further guidance or timescale for PEEP’s since the public consultation exercise by the
Home Office in July 2021.

1.8

The Building Safety Bill (BSB) will create a new building safety regulator within the
Health and Safety Executive (HSE). It is currently envisaged that the BSB will receive
Royal Assent in March 2022, with implementation of the new legislative requirements
most likely to be from April 2023.

1.9

The Building Safety Bill introduces a range of new duties for buildings in scope
(currently those of 18m/7 storeys+) in relation to both fire and structural safety.

1.10 The Homes and Neighbourhoods department is currently programming implementation
of all of these potential new duties and the likely impacts on processes, resources and
future service delivery.
1.11 A further update will be provided to the Committee on the impacts of the Building
Safety Bill once it receives Royal Assent and the full range of implications is clear
1.12 The new Planning Gateway 1 is already effective for buildings of 18m or 7 storey+,
which has implications for new developments including the council’s own. The key
requirement is to submit a ‘fire statement’ as part of the planning application, in order to
demonstrate that fire safety has been considered at the earliest stage of the
construction process.
2

Planning for new duties

2.1

The Council monitors fire safety developments, guidance and regulation for tall
buildings through the following meetings:


London Councils Housing Directors fire safety meetings (quarterly) – a group of
Housing Directors from councils across London, at which there are representatives
from MHCLG, LGA, LFB and Home Office.



Building Safety Bill (BSB) transition group which meets on a 6 weekly basis



Tall buildings fire safety meetings (every 2 months) – representatives across the
council chaired by the Service Director - Housing Property Services – the group
oversees the council’s duty as landlord and its regulatory function for safety in
housing in Islington in relation to tall buildings. It includes residential environmental
health and building control.



Homes and Estates Safety Board (quarterly) – our independently chaired
Partnership Board, including the London Fire Brigade.



London Fire Brigade (LFB) liaison meetings (quarterly) - we work closely with the
LFB to take advice and guidance



The Adult Safeguarding Board has considered the issue of evacuation of vulnerable
residents in the event of a fire

2

Page 8

2.2

Local Council fire safety networking group with Hackney, Haringey, Barnet and Enfield
to discuss common issues and approaches.

3.

Investing in Fire Safety

3.1

The council has reviewed its investment plans and refocused them to ensure there are
sufficient resources in its building safety programme, ensuring all key aspects of
building safety are being addressed within our five-year programme.
Building safety investment represents around 20% of our 2021/22 investment
programme.
Our updated 5-year investment programme will see £115m invested in building safety note that investment rates are set to accelerate over the next few years now that new
partnering contracts are in place:
Area of Work

Investment
commitment

Spent during
2020/21 and
2021/22

Fire safety works to tall blocks

£50m

£4.0m

Interlinked fire alarms and emergency
lighting works in street properties and
mansion blocks

£14m

£0.6m

Installation of wet rising mains

£4m

£0.4m

Communal doors and bin storage areas

£24m

£3.6m

Front door programme

£17m

£3.5m

Electrical testing programme

£6m

£2.6m

£115m

£14.7m

Total

3.2

Committed resource for Tall Blocks has increased to ensure that the safety measures
for these buildings meet and continue to meet expected standards. These investment
sums will continue to be reviewed, as guidance to landlords is developed as a result of
the Fire Safety Act 2021 and the forthcoming Building Safety Act. We are working with
our contractors on site to ensure works are scope in line with the needs of each
property.

3.3

Investment in our interlinked fire detection programme may need to increase, as
complementary fire safety works identified as part of the pilot phases, will be built into
the scoping of the remaining programme. Spend within this programme is expected to
increase in the coming months.

3
Page
9

4.

Building Safety Programme

4.1

The Councils building safety programmes continue, focusing on several key areas
which include;





4.2

Flat front entrance door (FED) replacements;
Communal area upgrades and improvements;
Wet rising/falling mains (WRM);
Interlinked detection and warning in converted street properties

FED Programme
The council has an ongoing programme to replace FED that do not meet current fire
safety standards or comply with relevant guidance. The FED replacement programme
was paused due to national concerns around composite, glass reinforced plastic (GRP)
doors, following testing carried out on behalf of MHCLG
Due to the continued concerns relating to GRP doors and ability of these to pass the
relevant testing standard, the Council recommenced its FED programme replacement
programme using timber door sets in November 2019.
Since November 2019, the Council has installed 2882 FED door sets. Of this total,
1838 were replacements for original Masterdor installations.
There are currently 1136 programmed FED replacements outstanding, which are due
to be completed by September 2022.

4.3

Communal Area Works
A programme of fire safety improvements to the communal areas of the Council’s highrise residential buildings (HRRB’s) commenced in 2020. The primary focus of this work
is communal fire doors replacements and fire-stopping improvements, including hard to
access areas such as penetrations in service riser ducts and intake cupboards/rooms
etc.
These upgrade works are now completed at the following blocks;

4

Page 10

4.4

Upgrade works are currently (at the time of this report) in progress at the following
blocks;

Imminent upgrade works;

Originally due to complete in March 2022, due to supply chain issues and the Covid 19
pandemic, the completion of the communal works programme is likely to be June 2022.
4.5

Interlinked Detection and Warning Programme
The programme to install interlinked smoke/heat detection and warning systems in the
Council’s directly managed and Partners street properties is now underway and gaining
momentum.
The interlinked alarm installations compensate for inadequate compartmentation
between the dwellings and provide the earliest possible warning of fire to the building
occupants.
After some initial delay due to covid and confirming the scope of the project, works are
now underway on site and/or with programmed installation dates at approximately 400
blocks/conversions in the North of the Borough.
Installations are being completed at a rate of approx. 20 per week, meaning the
programme should be completed early in 2022.
Approximately 100 blocks/conversions are currently in the Section 20 and/or Planning
process as many properties are within conservation areas etc.

4.6

Wet Rising/Falling Mains (WRM)
New WRM installations have now been commissioned at Michael Cliffe House and
Peregrine House. As the two tallest residential buildings within the Council stock, these
improvements ensure the availability of water at the highest levels of the building in the
event of fire.

5.

Oversight of Fire Safety

5.1

The Housing Management Team receive monthly fire safety updates in order to monitor
progress.

5
Page
11

5.2

Monthly reports detail all FRA activity for the preceding month, including; outcomes
from FRA; summary of actions arising; monitoring of overall FRA actions outstanding;
and tracking of high risk actions etc.

5.3

The fire safety report highlights the most commonly raised FRA actions for each month.
Since its inception in March 2021, the most common action raised relates to the
accumulation of combustible waste in common areas.
Despite remaining the most common FRA actions category, over the last 2 years and in
spite of the pandemic, we have completed actions and reduced the number of actions
relating to our fire safety risk assessments in communal areas.

5.4

5.5

We have also noted residents have acted on advice and there is an improvement in
general “housekeeping” with less items stored by residents in communal areas.
However, this remains an area of concern and is resource intensive to manage the
issues identified.

5.6

The process for notifying residents about items stored in communal areas and their
subsequent removal is being tightened up, which should streamline the actions involved
and reduce times in removing items where this is required.

5.7

Since the last update and over the last 18 months, Estate Services have worked on
obtaining keys to the communal doors of all our directly managed street properties. This
enables unimpeded access to communal areas, allowing inspection to these areas that
gives us a good indicator of any safety implications.

5.8

Liaising with residents whilst on site has improved relations and general understanding
of the importance to keep these areas clear. The small team undertaking these
inspections have managed to access 90% of 238 properties.

5.9

The same team are working closely with Partners to replicate this model on the
properties that are due to transfer to our management in 2022.

5.10 The quarterly Homes and Estates Safety Board (HESB) performance monitoring report
provides a detailed summary of FRA activity and status of FRA actions.
5.11 The statistics show a significant decrease in open actions from 7605 in March 2021 to
4924 in September 2021.
5.12 Statistics for the same period also show a significant decrease in longer terms
upgrade/improvement works assigned to capital programme delivery/fire safety works
teams from 5327 in May 2021 to 2861 in September 2021.
5.13 The long-term trend of actions raised during FRA over a 5-year cycle suggests the
systems, processes and procedures in place are working. The reduction in FRA actions
indicates fewer fire safety repairs, housekeeping, tenancy management issues and
longer-term improvements required.

6

Page 12

The number of actions raised in the calendar year 2020 arises from 339 completed
FRA.
To end September in 2021 the number of FRA completed stands at 698 and a total of
2052 actions raised. This equates to an average of 684 per quarter, but is based on an
increase in FRA output of over 50% to date.
Comparing the average number of actions raised per FRA suggests the downward
trend in actions raised continues. In 2020 the average number of actions raised per
FRA was 6.9 and in 2021 it has reduced significantly to 2.9 per FRA.
5.14 Analysis of open FRA actions shows that over 70% of open FRA actions are in low rise
properties of 1-5 storeys,
Approximately 57% of actions are in the low risk category, which tend to be longer-term
improvements or upgrades to current standards, rather than repairs of existing fire
safety measures.
For example, the sub-division of a roof space to current Building Regulation
requirements is only likely to be deliverable when the roof is replaced at the end of its
life cycle. Many such improvements will already be incorporated into the capital work
schemes outlined in Section 4 of this report,

7
Page
13

Only around 0.7% of open actions are in the high risk category and these typically
include issues such as liquid petroleum gas (LPG) cylinders being discovered, or a
significant accumulation of combustible materials etc.
The highest risk issues are often dealt with from site, rather than waiting for completion
of the FRA report.
5.15 The Fire Safety Forum also meets on a quarterly basis, to discuss operational aspects
of FRA actions, common themes and proactive fire safety management
6.

Employee Training and Development

6.1

Since the Grenfell Tower tragedy in 2017, Council staff at various levels within the
Homes and Neighbourhoods Directorate have undertaken a range of fire safety learning
and development.

6.2

Within Homes and Community Safety, the majority of Estate Services staff attended the
Fire Safety in Purpose Built Blocks of Flats course in late 2018.

6.3

In addition, in early 2019 approximately 30 members of the estate services team
undertook the Fire Protection Association (FPA) CO5 – Applied Fire Risk Assessment
course (5 days).

6.4

In respect of the wider staff group, as part of their ongoing training package the
Council’s caretaking have receive periodic toolbox talks in relation to fire safety,
including general fire safety awareness and working with flammable liquids etc.

6.5

As the staff group who may be the first point of contact on site for the Fire and Rescue
Service (FRS), the Council’s Concierge teams have also received fire safety training.
This package includes general fire safety awareness and fire marshal/warden courses.
Procedures for accessing vulnerable resident information are also reiterate during staff
121 meetings.

6.6

A large group of staff across both Housing Property Service (HPS) and New Build also
complete the Fire Safety in Purpose Built Blocks of Flats training in the period following
the Grenfell fire.

8

Page 14

6.7

In addition, 12 members of predominantly Housing Property Services staff have also
now completed a Level 5 Fire Engineering Design course over a period of 18 months
from July 2019. .

6.8

Following some delays due to the Covid 19 pandemic and a large-scale recruitment
programme, further staff development is due to commence in February 2022.

6.9

The Capital Programme Delivery team will undertake Principal Designer training, to
help fulfil their role under the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations
2015, including design control. Whilst not strictly fire safety related, construction work
has the ability to affect both positively or negatively on the safety of Council residents
and it is important to manage construction work effectively.

6.10 An increased level of fire safety competence, as well as safety management in relation
to construction work, will have long lasting benefits for residents.
7.

Enforcement Action

7.1

In common with many other local authorities and landlords in London, the Council has
experience an increase in enforcement activity from London Fire Brigade (LFB).

7.2

An Enforcement Notice was served on the Council in respect of Godfrey House in June
2021, following a routine post-fire inspection by LFB.

7.3.

The Council is currently addressing the issues highlighted in the notice and will aim to
comply with all recommendations by the end of the calendar year 2021.

7.4

The only previous Enforcement Notice received by the Council related to Galway House
and Grayson House, dates back to February 2016.

7.5

The Council has reviewed its processes for tracking actions arising from enforcement
action and ensuring notifications is provided to Ward Councillors.
Report author: Stuart Fuller – Head of Housing Safety and Compliance
Email: stuart.fuller@islington.gov.uk

9
Page
15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item B3

Chief Executive Department
Town Hall, London N1 2UD
Report of:
Meeting of:

Date:

Ward(s):

Housing Scrutiny Committee

6 December 2021

All

Delete as appropriate

Exempt

Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Quarter 2 Performance Report: Housing
1.

Synopsis

1.1 The council has in place a suite of corporate performance indicators to help monitor progress in
delivering the outcomes set out in the council’s Corporate Plan. Progress on key performance
measures is reported through the Council’s Scrutiny Committees on a quarterly basis to ensure
accountability to residents and to enable challenge where necessary.
1.2 This report sets out Quarter 2 progress against targets for those performance indicators that fall
within the Housing outcome area, for which the Housing Scrutiny Committee has responsibility.

2.

Recommendations

2.1 To note performance against targets in Quarter 1, 2021/22 for measures relating to Housing.

3.

Background

3.1 A suite of corporate performance indicators has been agreed for 2018-22, which help track progress
in delivering the seven priorities set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan - Building a Fairer Islington.
Targets are set on an annual basis and performance is monitored internally, through Departmental
Management Teams, Corporate Management Board and Joint Board, and externally through the
Scrutiny Committees.
3.2 The Housing Scrutiny Committee is responsible for monitoring and challenging performance for the
following key outcome area: Housing: Delivering decent and genuinely affordable homes for all.

Page 17

Page 1 of 5

4.

Quarter 2 performance update – Housing

4.1 Key performance indicators relating to Housing.
#

H1
H2

H3

H4

H5

H6

H7
H8

H9

H10
H11

H12

Indicator

Number of planning
permissions agreed for
new council housing
Number of new council
homes started on site
Number of affordable
new homes (social
rented or shared
ownership) completed by
the council
Number of affordable
new homes (social
rented or shared
ownership) completed by
Developers
Percentage of homeless
decisions made in the
target timeframe
Number of households in
nightly booked
temporary
accommodation
Number of homeless
preventions
Number of people
sleeping rough
Percentage of all lettings
provided to council
tenants securing a
transfer
Percentage of LBI repairs
fixed first time
Rent arrears as a
proportion of the rent
roll - LBI (%)
Rent arrears as a
proportion of the rent
roll - partner properties

2019/
20
Actual

2020/
21 Actual

2 0 21/
2 2 Target

2 0 21/
2 2 Q2

On
target?

Q2 last
year

Better
than Q2
last year?

63

53

103

30

Yes

3

Yes

89

118

95

30

Yes

New
indicator

-

0

3

68

2

0

Yes

25

17

34

Data
pending

-

70

-

New
indicator

40%

90%

70%

No

New
indicator

-

316

468

365

492

No

367

No

717

947

994

386

No

554

No

New
indicator

11

0

7

No

New
indicator

-

38%

35%

36%

33%

No

35%

No

87.7%

92.9%

85%

89.4%

Yes

92.8%

No

3.92%

4.71%

4.71%

4.66%

Yes

4.56%

No

3.70%

4.91%

4.91%

5.16%

No

4.87%

No

Page 18

Yes

Page 2 of 5

4.2

H1: Number of planning permissions agreed for new council housing
This figure is on target at this point in the year – the Stacey Street development was granted
planning permission in Q1, and no further permissions were expected in this quarter. The
remainder are expected to receive planning permission in the final quarters of the year.

4.3

H2: Number of new council homes started on site
This figure is ahead of schedule for the year – we’d expected to start on site at 21 new homes this
quarter, but in fact started on site for the aforementioned 30 homes at the Stacey Street site.

4.4

H3: Number of affordable new homes (social rented or shared ownership) completed by the council
This figure is on target at this point in the year – two new homes were completed this quarter at
the Belfont site, with the remainder of this year’s completions expected to be in Quarters 3 and 4.

4.5

H4: Number of affordable new homes (social rented or shared ownership) completed by Developers
This quarter we only received data from 4 of the 12 external providers, so are unable to report on
this figure for Q2.

4.6

H5: Percentage of homeless decisions made in the target timeframe
This indicator is still below target, but shows a marked improvement on last quarter’s position. This
has been delivered through a small team working to clear cases with outstanding decisions, as well
as giving individual staff challenging targets to meet.

4.7

H6: Number of households in nightly booked temporary accommodation
This figure is off-target – the numbers are up this quarter, at 492 against a profiled target of 417 at
this stage in the year.
This figure is still bearing the effects of the Everyone In programme and the pause in evictions. The
team is continuing to work hard to clear this backlog.

4.8

H7: Number of homeless preventions
This figure is off-target at this point in the year – the target is to prevent 994 households from
becoming homeless this year, an increase of 5% on last year's performance.
Performance is currently below this target – 386 preventions in the first half of the year would only
result in a total of 772 preventions in the year, falling some way short of the target. Weekly
performance monitoring is now in place, and we have introduced staff performance surgeries and
best practice training to support staff to meet this challenging target.

4.9

H8: Number of people sleeping rough
This figure is off-target at this point in the year – however the rough sleepers found in the most
recent rough sleeping counts have only been sleeping rough for one or two weeks . This shows that
our prevention work is succeeding, ensuring that there are currently no long-term street homeless
in the borough.

4.10

H9: Percentage of all lettings provided to council tenants securing a transfer
This indicator shows how many of the council’s existing tenants have been successful in moving to
a more suitable social rented home, alleviating overcrowding for example and freeing up council
homes for those in need.

Page 19

Page 3 of 5

169 residents have been supported to move in to more suitable accommodation, which is 33% of
all lettings this year. This figure is off-target at this point in the year – however the gap is relatively
small and will be narrowed over the coming months.

4.11

H10: Percentage of LBI repairs fixed first time
This figure is above target at this point in the year – we have fixed 89.4% of repairs first time
against a target of 85%. This is below the same point last year, however the comparison is not
like-with-like. Performance last year was artificially inflated given that the pandemic enforced a
focus on emergency repairs, which have a higher first time fix rate.

4.12

H11: Rent arrears as a proportion of the rent roll – LBI
This indicator is on target – arrears have remained stable at 4.66%, a very slight fall from Q1. This
means that arrears remain below the position at the end of 2020/21.

4.13

H12: Rent arrears as a proportion of the rent roll - Partner properties
This indicator is slightly off target – rising to 5.16% from 4.91% at the end of last quarter.

5.

Implications
Financial implications:

5.1

The cost of providing resources to monitor performance is met within each service’s core budget.
Legal Implications:

5.2

There are no legal duties upon local authorities to set targets or monitor performance. However,
these enable us to strive for continuous improvement.
Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon Islington
by 2030:

5.3

There are no environmental impact arising from monitoring performance.

Resident Impact Assessment:
5.4

The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and foster
good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not
share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010).

5.5

The council has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take
steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and
encourage people to participate in public life. The council must have due regard to the need to
tackle prejudice and promote understanding.

6.

Conclusion

Page 20

Page 4 of 5

6.1

The Council’s Corporate Plan sets out a clear set of priorities, underpinned by a set of firm
commitments and actions that we will take over the next four years to work towards our vison of a
Fairer Islington. The corporate performance indicators are one of a number of tools that enable us
to ensure that we are making progress in delivering key priorities whilst maintaining good quality
services.

Signed by:

Corporate Director, Homes and Neighbourhoods
Report Author:
Tel:
Email:

Date:

David Clifford
0207 527 2924
david.clifford@islington.gov.uk

Page 21

Page 5 of 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item B4
WORK PROGRAMME 2021/2022
6 DECEMBER 2021

1)
2)
3)
4)

Scrutiny Review: Partners Improvement – witness Evidence
Housing Fire Safety Update – Overview on Progress
Quarterly Review of Housing Performance (Q2 2021/22)
Work Programme 2021/22

3 FEBRUARY 2022
1) Scrutiny Review: Partners Improvement – Final Report and
Recommendations
2) Mini Scrutiny Review – Communal Heating –Final Report and Draft
Recommendations
3) Triage System – Progress Report and Dip Sampling Results
Recommendations
4) Work Programme 2021/22
21 MARCH 2022
1) Future Scrutiny Topics - 2022/23
2) Work Programme 2021/22

Page 23

This page is intentionally left blank

